A REPORTER AT LARGE

GETTING BIN LADEN

What bappened that night in Abbottabad.

No American was yet inside the residential part of the compound. peratives had barely been on target for a minute, and the nissior




was alreaay veering off course. Photoillustration by John Ritter.

horty after cleven o'clock on the night

of May 1st, two MIH-60 Black Hawk
helicopters lifted off from Jalalabad Air
Field, in eastern Atghanistan, and em-
barked on a covert mission into Pakistan
to kill Osama bin Laden. Inside the air-
craft were twenty-three Navy SEALs from
Team Six, which is offictally known as
the Naval Special Warfare Development
Group, or DEVGRU. A Pakistani-Ameri-
can translator, whom I will call Ahmed,
and a dog named Cairo—a Belgian Ma-
linois—were also aboard. It was a moon-
less evening, and the helicopters” pilots,
wearing night-vision goggles, flew with-
out lights over mountains that straddle the
border with Pakistan. Radio communica-
tions were kept to a minimum, and an
eerie calm settled inside the aircraft.

Fifteen minutes later, the helicopters
ducked into an alpine valley and slipped,
undetected, into Pakistani airspace. For
more than sixty years, Pakistan’s military
has maintained a state ot high alert
against its eastern neighbor, India. Be-
cause of this obsession, Pakistan’s “prin-
cipal air defenses are all pointing cast,”
Shuja Nawaz, an expert on the Pakistani
Army and the author ot “Crossed Swords:
Pakistan, Its Army, and the Wars
Within,” told me. Senior defensc and
Administration officials concur with this
assessment, but a Pakistani senior mili-
tary official, whom I reached at his oftice,
in Rawalpindi, disagreed. “No one leaves
their borders unattended,” he said.
Though he declined to elaborate on the
location or orientation of Pakistan’s ra-
dars—“It’s not where the radars arc or
aren’'t’—hec said that the American
infiltration was the result of “technologi-
cal gaps we have vis-a-vis the U.S.” The
Black Hawks, each of which had two pi-
lots and a crewman from the 160th Spe-
cial Operations Aviation Regiment, or
the Night Stalkers, had been modified to
mask heat, noise, and movement; the
copters’ exteriors had sharp, flat angles
and were covered with radar-dampening
“skin.”

The SEALS’ destination was a house in
the small city of Abbottabad, which is
about a hundred and twenty miles across
the Pakistan border. Situated north of
Islamabad, Pakistan’s capital, Abbotta-
bad is in the foothills of the Pir Panjal
Range, and is popular in the summer-
time with families seeking relief from the
blistering heat farther south. Founded in
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1853 by a British major named James
Abbott, the city became the home of a
prastigious military academy after the
creation of Pakistan, in 1947, According
to information gathered by the Central
Tutelligence Agency, bin Laden was
haled up on the third floor of a house in
a one-acre compound just oft Kakul
Road in Bilal Town, a middle-class
neighborhood less than a mile from the
ertrance to the academy. If all went ac-
cerding to plan, the SEALs would drop
from the helicopters into the compound,

sierpower bin Laden'’s guards, shootand
](1 1him at close range, and then take the
cerpse back to Afghanistan.

The helicopters traversed Mohmand,
one of Pakistan’s seven tribal areas,
skirted the north of Peshawar, and con-

tued due east. The commander of

[ :VGRU's Red Squadron, whom I will
el James, sat on the floor, squeezed
among ten other SEALs, Ahmed, and
Cairo. (The names of all the covert op-
crators mentioned in this story have been
changed.) James, a broad-chested man
in his late thirties, docs not have the lithe
swimmer’s frame that one might expect
el a sEAL—he is built more like a discus
t- rower. That night, he wore a shirtand
tousers in Desert Digital Camouflage,
and carried a sdcnud Sig Sauer P226
pstol, along with extra ammunition; a
CamelBak, for hydration; and gel shots,
for endurance. He held a short-barrel,

silenced M4 rifle. (Other SEALs had
choscn the Heckler & Koch MP7.) A
“blowout kit,” for treating ficld trauma,
was tucked into the small of James’s
bick. Stuffed into one of his pockets was
2 laminated gridded map of the com-
pound. In another pocket was a booklet
with photographs and physical descrip-
tions of the people suspected of being in-
side. He wore a noise-cancelling head-
sct, which blocked out nearly everything
bzsides his heartbeat.

During the ninety-minute helicopter
flight, James and his teammates re-
hearsed the operation in their heads.
Since the autumn of 2001, they had ro-
tuted through Afghanistan, Irag, Yemen,
and the Horn of Africa, at a brutal pace.
At least three of the SEALs had partici-
pated in the sniper operation off the
coast of Somalia, in April, 2009, that
freed Richard Phillips, the captain of the
Maersk Alabama, and left three pirates
dead. In October, 2010, a DEVGRU team
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attempted to rescue Linda Norgrove, a
Scottish aid worker who had been kid-
napped in eastern Afghanistan by the
Taliban. During a raid of a Taliban hide-
out, a SEAL tossed a grenade at an insur-
gent, not realizing that Norgrove was
ncarby She died from the blast. The
mistake haunted the SEALs who had
been involved; three of them were sub-
sequently expelled from DEVGRU.

The Abbottabad raid was not DEV-
GRU’s maiden venture into Pakistan,
cither. The team had surreptitiously
entered the country on ten to twelve pre-
vious occasions, according to a special-
operations officer who is deeply famniliar
with the bin Laden raid. Most of those
missions were forays into North and
South Waziristan, where many military
and intelligence analysts had thought that
bin Laden and other Al Qaeda leaders
were hiding. (Only one such operation—
the September, 2008, raid of Angoor
Ada, a vﬂlage in South V\/A/uhtm—has
been ded) reported.) Abbottabad was,
by far, the farthest that DEVGRU had
ventured into Pakistani territory. It also
represented the team’s first serious at-
tempt since late 2001 at killing “Crank-
shatt”—the target name that the Joint
Special Operations Command, or JSOC,
had given bin Laden. Since escaping that
winter during a battle in the Tora Bora
region of castern Afghanistan, bin Laden
had deficd American efforts to trace
him. Indeed, it remuins unclear how he
ended up living in Abbottabad.

Forty-five minutes after the Black
Hawks departed, four MH-47 Chi-
IlOOkS lﬂlulched ﬂ'OIT] thC same nUl\Vﬁy
in Jalalabad. Two of them flew to the
border, staying on the Afghan side; the
other two proceeded into Pakistan. De-
ploying four Chinooks was a last-minute
decision made after President Barack
Obama said he wanted to feel assured
that the Americans could “fight their
way out of Pakistan.” Twenty-five addi-
tional SEALs from DEVGRU, pulled from
a squadron stationed in Afghanistan, sat

in the Chinooks that remained at the
border; this “quick-reaction force” would
be called into action only if the mission
went scriously wrong. The third and
fourth Chinooks were cach outfitted
with a pair of M134 Miniguns. They
followed the Black Hawks initial ﬂwht
path but landed at a predetermined point
on a dry riverbed in a wide, unpopulated
valley in northwest Pakistan. The near-
est house was half a mile away. On the
ground, the copters’ rotors were kept
whirring while operatives monitored the
surrounding hills for encroaching Paki-
stani helicopters or fighter jets. ()ng of
the Chinooks was carrying fuel bladders,

in case the other aircraft needed to refill
their tanks.

Meanwhile, the two Black Hawks
were quickly approaching Abbottabad
from the nmthwcst hiding behind the
mountains on the northcmmost edge of
the city. Then the pilots banked right
and went south along a ridge that marks
Abbottabad’s eastern perimeter. When
those hills tapered off, the pilots curled
right again, toward the city center, and
made their final approach.

During the next tour minutes, the in-
terior of the Black Hawks rustled «
with the metallic cough of rounds being
chambered. Mark, a master chief petty
officer and the ranking noncominis-

ive

sioned othcer on the operation, crouched
on onc knee beside the open door ot the
lead helicopter. He and the eleven other
SEALs on
gloves and had on night-vision goggles,
were preparing to lest—ropc into hin
Iaden’s vard. They waited for the crow
chief to give the signal to throw the rope.

“helo one,” who were wearing

But, as the pilot passed over the com-
pound, pulled into a high hover, and
began lowering the aircraft, he telt the
Black Hawk getting away from him. He
sensed that they were going to crash.

ne month before the 2008 Presi-

dential election, Obama, then a
senator from Illinois, squared off in a de-
bate against John McCain in an arena at
Belmont University, in Nashville. A
woman in the audience asked Obama if
he would be willing to pursue Al Qacda
leaders inside Pakistan, even if that
meant invading an ally nation. He re-
plied, “If we have Osama bin Laden in
our sights and the Pakistani government
is unable, or unwilling, to take them out,



then [ think that we have to act and we
will tzke them out. We will kill bin
Laden We will crush Al Qacda. That has
to be cur biggest national-security prior-
ity.” McCain, who often criticized
Obama tor his naiveté on foreign-policy
mattes, characterized the promisc as
foolist, saving, “I'm not going to tele-
graph my punches.”

Four months after Obama entered
the White House, Ieon Panetta, the
director of the C.I.A., briefed the Presi-
dent on tie agency’s latest programs
and ir.dtiaz ves for tragkmg bin Laden.
Obarr a was unimpressed. In June, 2009,
he drated ;. memo instructing Panetta to
create a “cetailed operation plan” for
findiny he Al Qaeda leader and to “en-
sure tharw= have expended every effort.”
Most nota )1y the President intensified

the CIAs
there wer: more missile strikes inside
Pakisan « uring Obama’s first year in
office than in George W. Bush's eight.
The terror sts swiftly registered the im-
pact: that July, CBS reported that a re-
cent Al Caeda communiqué had re-
terred to “hrave commanders” who had
been s
hidden homes [which] have been lev-
clled.” ""he document blamed the “very
grave” st tion on spies who had “spread
throuphiout the land like locusts.” Never-
theless, bin Laden’s trail remained cold.

In Aug 1st, 2010, Panetta returned to
the Whirz House with better news.
C.LA. arulysts belicved that they had
pinpeir ted bin Laden’s courier, a man in
his early tirties named Abu Ahmed al-
Kuwsritl. Fuwaiti drove a white S.U.V.
whose spare-tire cover was emblazoned
with an image of a white rhino. The
C.IA. began tracking the vehicle. One
day, « satellite captured images of the
S.U.V. pulling into a large concrete com-
pound in Abbottabad. Agents, deter-
mining that Kuwaiti was living there,
used :erial surveillance to keep watch on
the compound, which consisted of a
three -story main house, a guesthouse,
and a few outbuildings. They observed
that residents of the compound burned
their trash, instead of putting it out for
colleetion, and concluded that the com-
pound lacked a phone or an Internet
connection. Kuwaiti and his brother
came and went, but another man, living
on the thixd floor, never left. When this
third individual did venture outside, he
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natched away” and to “so many

stayed behind the compound’s walls.
Some analysts speculated that the third
man was bin laden, and the agency
dubbed him the Pacer.

Obama, though excited, was not yet
prepared to order military action. John
Brennan, Obama’s counterterrorism ad-
viser, told me that the President’s advis-
ers began an “interrogation of the data,
to see if, by that interrogation, you're
going to dlsplove the thu)rv that bin

Laden was there.” The C.LA. intensified
its inteﬂigcnce—collccnon etforts, and,
according to a recent report in the
Guardian, a physician working tor the
agency conducted an immunization drive
in Abbottabad, in the hope of acquiring
DNA samples from bin Laden’s chil-
dren. (No one in the compound ulti-
mately received any immunizations.)

Tn late 2010, Obama ordered Pa-
netta to begin exploring options for a
military strike on the compound. Pa-
netta contacted Vice-Admiral Bill Mc-
Raven, the SEAL in charge of 1SOC. Tra-
ditionally, the Army has dominated the
special-operations community, but in
recent years the SEALs have become a
more prominent presence; McRaven's
boss at the time of the raid, Eric Ol-
son—the head of Special Operations
Command, or SOCOM—is a Navy ad-

miral who used to be a commander of

DEVGRU. In January, 2011, McRaven
asked a 150C official named Brian, who

pRAcTIcE Ples AT The GeNE FARM

had previously been a DEVGRU deputy
commander, to present a raid plan. The
next month, Brian, who has the all-
Amecrican look of a high-school quar-
terback, moved into an unmarked ofhice
on the first floor of the C.I.LAs printing
plant, in Langley, Virginia. Bmm cov-
ered the wa ls of the office with topo-
graphical maps and satellite images of
the Abbottabad compound. He and
half a dozen jsOC officers were formally
attached to the Pakistan/Afghanistan
department of the C.LLAs Counterter-
rorism Center, but in practice they op-
erated on their own. A senior counter-
terrorism official who visited the JSOC
redoubt described it as an enclave of un-
usual secrecy and discretion. “Every-
thing they were working on was closely
held,” the official said.

The relationship between special-
operations units and the C.LLA. dates
back to the Vietnam War. But the line
between the two communities has in-
creasingly blurred as C.LA. officers and
military personnel have encountered one
another on multiple tours of Iraq and
Afghanistan. “These people grew up to-
gether,” a senior Defense Depurtment
official told me. “We are in cach oth-
er’s systems, we speak cach other's lan-
guages.” (Exemplifying this trend, Gen-
eral David . Petraeus, the former
commanding general in Iraq and
Afghanistan, is now the incoming head
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e C.LAL and Panetta has taken over
the Department of Detense.) The bin
laden mission—plotted at C.LLA. head-
querters and authorized under C.LA.
legnl statutes but conducted by Navy
DEVGRU operators—br ou(rht the
cocperation between the agency and the
Pentagon to an even higher level. John
Radsan, a former assistant general coun-
sel at the C1A, said that thc Abbotta-
bac raid amountcd to “a comnplete incor-
poration of [SOC intoa C.LA. operation.”

()n March 14th, Obama called his
national-security advisers into the
White House Situation Room and re-
viewed a spreadsheet listing possible
-0 rses of action against the Abbottabad
conpound. Most were variations of ei-
rher @ JSOC raid or an airstrike. Some ver-
sicns included cooperating with the Pa-
<iscant military; some did not. Obama
levided against informing or working
with Pakistan. ©
confidence that the Pakistanis could keep
this sceret for more than « nanosecond,”
Leenior adviser to the President told me.
Ar the end of the meeting, Obama in-
sincted MeRaven to proceed with plan-
ni-g the raid.

Brian invited James, the commander
of HEVORU's Red Squadron, and Mark,
the master chief petty otheer, to join him
at C.LAL headquarters. They spent the
next two and a half weeks Lonxldumg
ways to get inside bin Laden’s house.
One option entailed flying helicopters to
a spot outside Abbottab Ad and letting
the team sneak into the city on foot. T he
ris' < of detection was high, however, and
thie sEALs would be tired by along mn to
the compound. The planners had con-
ternplated tunnelling in—or, at least, the
possibility that bin Laden might tunnel

out. But i images provided b\ the Na-
tional Geospatial Intclhgcncc Agency
showed that there was standing water in
the vicinity, suggesting that the com-
pound sat in a flood basin. The water
table was probably just below the surface,
muking tunnels highly unlikely. Eventu-
allv, t hc planners ngLLd thatit made the
most sense to fly direetly into the com-
“Special operations is about
doing what's not expected, and probably
the least expected thing here was that

pound.

a helicopter would come in, drop guys
on the roof, and land in the yard,” the
special-operations ofhcer said.
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There was a real lack of

ARTLESS

is my heart. A stranger

berry there never was,

tartless.

Gone sour in the sun,
in the sunroom or moonroof,

roofless.

No poetry. Plain. No
fresh, special recipe

to bless.

All T've ever made
with these hands

and life, less

substance, more rind.
Mostly rim and trim,

meatless

but making much smoke
in the old smokehouse,

no less.

Fatted from the day,
overripe and even
toxic at eve. Nonetheless,

in the end, it vou must
know, if [ must bend,

waistless,

to that excruciation.
No marvel, no harvest
left me speechless,

On March 29th, McRaven brought
the plan to Obama. The President’s mil-
itary advisers were divided. Some sup-
ported a raid, some an airstrike, and oth-
ers wanted to hold off until the intelli-
gence improved. Robert Gates, the
Secretary of Defense, was one of the
most outspoken opponents of a helicop-
ter assault. Gates reminded his col-
leagues that he had been in the Situation
Room of the Carter White House when
military officials presented Eagle Claw
the 1980 Delta Force operation that
aimed at rescuing American hostages in
Tehran but resulted in a disastrous colli-
sion in the Iranian desert, killing eight
“They said tlmt Wias A
pretty good idea, too,” Gates warned. He

American soldicrs.

and General James Curtwright, the vice-
chairman of the Joint Chicts, favored
an airstrike by -2 Spirit bombers. That
option would avoid the risk ot having
American boots on the ground in Paki-
stan. But the Air Force then caleulated
that a payload of thirty-two smart bombs,
each weighing two thousand pound'
would be required to penctrate thirty feet
below ground, insuring that any bunkers
would collapse. “That much ordnance
going off would be the equivalent ot an
earthquake,” Cartwright told me. The
prospect of flattening a Pakistani city
made Obama pause. [ e shelved the B-2
option and directed McRaven to start re-
hearsing the raid.

Brian, James, and Mark selected a



yet I find myself
somehow with heart,

aloneless.

With heart,

fighting fire with fire,

flightless.

Thatloud hub of us,

meat stub of us, beating us

senseless.

Spectacular in its way,
its way of not seeing,
congealing dayless

but in everydayness.
In that hopeful haunting,

(alesser

way of saying

in darkness) there is
silencelessness

for the pressing question.
Heart, what art you?
War, star, part? Or less:

/?/LU/'ing a part, stﬂying apart
from the one who loves,

loveless.

—Brenda Shaughnessy

team of two dozen SEALs from Red
Squadron and told them to report to a
densely forested site in North Carolina
for a iruin ng exercise on April 10th.
(Red Squzdron is onc of four squadrons
in DEVCRE, which has about three hun-
dred nperators in all.) None of the
SEALs, besides James and Mark, were
aware ot the C.LA. intelligence on bin
Lader’s compound until a lieutenant
commander walked into an office at the
site. e found a two-star Army genceral
from J30C acadquarters scated at a con-
ference table with Brian, James, Mark,
and several analysts from the C.ILA.
This obvicusly wasn't a training exer-
cise. "The leutenant commander was
promotly “rcad in.” A replica of the

compound had been built at the site,
with walls and chain-link fencing mark-
ing the layout of the compound. The
team spent the next five days practicing
maneuvers.

On April 18th, the DEVGRU squad
flew to Nevada for another week of re-
hearsals. The practice site was a large
government-owned stretch ot desert
with an elevation equivalent to the area
surrounding Abbottabad. An extant
building served as bin Laden’s house.
Aircrews plotted out a path that paral-
leled the flight from Jalalabad to Abbot-
tabad. Each night after sundown, drills
commenced. Twelve SEALs, including
Mark, boarded helo one. Eleven SEAL,
Ahmed, and Cairo boarded helo two.

The pilots flew in the dark, arrived at the
simulated compound, and scttled into a
hover while the SEALs fast-roped down.
Not everyone on the tearn was accus-
tomed to helicopter assaults. Ahmed had
been pulled from a desk job for the mis-
sion and had never descended a fast rope.
He quickly learned the technique.

The assault plan was now honed.
Helo one was to hover over the yard,
drop two fast ropes, and let all twelve
SEALs slide down into the vard. Ilelo
two would fly to the northeast corner ot
the compound and let out Ahmed,
Cairo, and four SEALs, who would mon-
itor the perimeter of the building. The
copter would then hover over the house,
and James and the remaining six SEALS
would shimmy down to the roof. As
long as everything was cordial, Ahmed
would hold curious neighbors at bay.
The saLs and the dog could assist more
aggressively, if needed. Then, if bin
Laden was proving difheult to find,
Cairo could be sent into the house to
search for false walls or hidden doors.
“This wasn't a hard op,” the special-
operations officer told me. “lt would be
like hitting a target in McLean™—the up-
scale Virginia suburb ot Washington, D.C.

A planeload of guests arrived on the
night of April 21st. Admiral Mike Mul-
len, the chairman of the Joint Chiefs,
along with Olson and McRaven, sat
with C.LLA. personnel in a hangar as
Brian, James, Mark, and the pilots pre-
sented a brief on the raid, which had
been named Operation Neptune's Spear.
Despite jSOC’s lead role in Neptune's
Spear, the mission officially remained a
C.ILA. covert operation. The covert ap-
proach allowed the White FHouse to hide
its involvement, if necessary. As the
counterterrorism official put it recently,
“If you land and everybody is out on a
milk run, then you get the hell out and
no one knows.” After describing the op-
eration, the briefers fielded questions:
What if a mob surrounded the com-
pound? Were the SEALs prepared to
shoot civilians? Olson, who received the
Silver Star for valor during the 1993
“Black Hawk Down” episode, in Moga-
dishu, Somalia, worried that it could be
politically catastrophic if a U.S. helicop-
ter were shot down inside Pakistani ter-
ritory. After an hour or so of question-
ing, the senior officers and intelligence
analysts returned to Washington. Two
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days later, the SEALs flew back to Dam
Nzck, their base in Virginia.

On the night of Tuesday, April 26th,
the SEAL tecam boarded a Boeing C-17
(Globemaster at Naval Air Station
Qceana, a few miles from Dam Neck.
After a refuelling stop at Ramstein Air
Base, in Germany, the C-17 continued
to Bagram Airfield, north of Kabul. The
SLALs spent a night in Bagram and
moved to Jalalabad on Wednesday.

That day in Washington, Panetta
convened more than a dozen senior
C.1.A. officials and analysts for a final
preparatory meeting. Panetta asked the
participants, one by one, to declare how
confident they were that bin Laden was
i-side the Abbottabad compound. The
counterterrorism official told me that the
percentages “ranged from forty per cent
to ninety or ninety-five per cent,” and
zdded, “This was a circumstantial case.”

Panctta was mindful of the analysts’
doubts, but he believed that the intelli-
genee was better than anything that the
C.LA. had gathered on bin Laden since
his flight from Tora Bora. Late on
Thursday afternoon, Panetta and the
rest of the national-security team met
with the President. For the next few
nights, there would be virtually no
moonlight over Abbottabad—the idcal
condition for a raid. After that, it would
be another month until the lunar cycle
was in its darkest phase. Several analysts
from the National Counterterrorism
Center were invited to critique the
C.LAs analysis; their confidence in the
intelligence ranged between forty and
sixty per cent. The center’s director, Mi-
chael Leiter, said that it would be prefer-
able to wait for stronger confirmation of
bin Laden’s presence in Abbottabad.
Yet, as Ben Rhodes, a deputy national-

“What say you just buzz me in tonight, honey?”

security adviser, put it to nic recently, the

he
longer things dragged on, the greater the
risk of a leak, “which would have up-
ended the thing.” Obama adjourned the
meeting just after 7 AL and said that he
would élcep on it.

The next morning, the President
met in the Map Room with Tom Don-
ilon, his national-security adviser, Denis
McDonough, a deputy adviser, and
Brennan. Obama had decided to go
with 2 DEVGRU assault, with McRaven
choosing the night. It was too late for a
Friday attack, and on Saturday there
was excessive cloud cover. On Saturday
afternoon, McRaven and Obama spoke
on the phone, and McRaven said that
the raid would occur on Sunday night.
“Godspeed to you and your forces,”
Obama told him. “Please pass on to
them my personal thanks for their ser-
vice and the message that I personally
will be following this mission very
closely.”

n the morning of Sunday, May

1st, White Housc ofhcials can-
celled scheduled visits, ordered sand-
wich platters from Costeo, and trans-
formed the Situation Room into a war
room. At cleven o'clock, Obamu’s top
advisers began gathering around alarge
conference table. A video link con-
nected them to Panetta, at C.LA. head-
quarters, and McRaven, in Atfghanistan,
(There were at least two other com-
mand centers, one inside the Pentagon
and one inside the American Eimbassv
in Islamabad.)

Brigadier General Marshall Webb,
an assistant cormninander of [SOC, took a
scat at the end of a lacquered table in a
small adjoining office and turned on his
laptop. He opened multiple chat win-
dows that kept him, and the White
House, connected with the other com-
mand teams. The office where Webb sat
had the only video feed in the White
House showing real-time footage of the
target, which was being shot by an un-
armed RQ 170 drone flying more than
fiftecn thousand fect above Abbottabad.
The JSOC planners, determined to keep
the operation as secret as possible, had
decided against using additional fighters
or bombers. “It just wasn't worth it,” the
special-operations officer told me. The
SFALs were on their own.

Obama returned to the White House



at two o'clock, after playing nine holes of

golf a- Andrews Air Force Base. The
Black Flawks departed from Jalalabad
thirty minutes later. Just before four
o'clock;, Panetta announced to the group
in the Situation Room that the helicop-
ters were approaching Abbottabad.
Obarr a stood up. “I need to watch this,”
he said, stepping across the hall into the
small othce and taking a scat alongside
Webh. Vice-President Joseph Biden,
Secretary (ates, and Secretary of State
Hilluy Clinton followed him, as did
anyone else who could fit into the ofhice.
On the office’s modestly sized 1.CD
screer, helo one—grainy and black-and-
white —appcared above the compound,
then promptly ran into trouble.

When -he helicopter began getting
away from the pilot, he pulled back on
the cyclie, which controls the pitch of the
rotor Hlades, only to find the aireraft un-
resposive. The high walls of the com-
pouncd el the warm temperatures had
cause 1 the Black Hawk to descend in-
side its ovn rotor wash—a hazardous
acrodynanic situation known as “set-
tling with power.” In North Carolina,
this porential problem had not become
apparenit, because the chain-link tencing
used in re: earsals had allowed air to flow
freely. /\ former helicopter pilot with cx-
tensive svecial-operations experience
said of the pilot’s situation, “It's pretty
spooly—I've beenin it myselt. The only
way to get out of it is to push the eyclic
torw: rd «ad fly out of this vertical silo
you're drepping through. "That solution
requires « titude. If you're settling with
power at “wo thousand feet, you've got
plenty of time to recover. 1f vou're set-
tling-with power at fifty feet, you're going
to hit the zround.”

The pilot scrapped the plan to fast-
rope a:d focussed on getting the aircraft
dowi. He aimed for an animal pen in
the vrestern section of the compound.
The st:ALs on board braced themselves
as the rail rotor swung around, scraping
the s:curizy wall. The pilot jammed the
nose forward to drive it into the dirt and
prevent Es aireraft from rolling onto its
side. Cows, chickens, and rabbits scur-
ried. With the Black Hawk pitched at a
forty-tve~degree angle astride the wall,
the crew sent a distress call to the idling
Chirooks.

Tames and the SEALs in helo two

watched all this while hovering over the

compound’s northeast corner. The sce-
ond pilot, unsure whether his colleagues
were taking fire or experiencing mechan-
ical problerns, ditched his plan to hover
over the roof. Instead, he landed in a
grassy field across the strect from the
house.

No American was vet inside the resi-
dential part of the compound. Mark and
his team were inside a downed helicop-
ter at one corner, while James and his
team were at the opposite end. The
teams had barely been on target for a
minute, and the mission was ;111'cady
veering off course.

“Etemi‘fy 1s defined as the time be-
tween when you sce something go
awry and that first voice report,” the
special-operations officer said. The
officials in Washington viewed the aer-
ial footage and waited anxiously to hear
a military communication. "The senior
adviser to the President compared the
experience to watching “the climax ot a
movie.”

After a few minutes, the twelve SEALS
inside helo one recovered their bearings
and calmly relayed on the radio that they
were proceeding with the raid. They had
conducted so many operations over the
past nine years that few things caught
them off guard. In the months after the
raid, the media have frequently sug-
gested that the Abbottabad operation
was as challenging as Operation Eagle
Claw and the “Black Hawk Down” inci-
dent, but the senior Defense Depart-
ment official told me that “this was not
one of three missions. This was one of
almost two thousand missions that have
been conducted over the last couple of
years, night after night.” He likened the
routine of evening raids to “mowing the
lawn.” On the night of May 1st alone,
special-operations forces based in Af-
ghanistan conducted twelve other mis-
sions; according to the official, those op-
erations capturced or killed between
fifteen and twenty targets. “Most of the
missions take off and go left,” he said.
“T'his one took off and went right.”

Minutes after hitting the ground,
Mark and the other team members
began streaming out the side doors of
helo one. Mud sucked at their boots as
they ran alongside a ten-foot-high wall
that enclosed the animal pen. A three-
man demolition unit hustled ahead to

the pen’s closed metal gate, reached into
bags containing explosives, and placed
C-4 charges on the hinges. After aloud
bang, the door fell open. The nine other
SEALs rushed forward, ending up in an
alleylike driveway with their backs to the
house’s main entrance. They moved
down the alley, silenced rifles pressed
against their shoulders. Mark hung to-
ward the rear as he established radio
communications with the other team. At
the end of the driveway, the Americans
blew through vet another locked gate and
stepped into a courtyard facing the guest-
house, where Abu Ahmed al-Kuwaiti,
bin Laden’s courier, lived with his wife
and four children.

Three SEALs in front broke off to
clear the guesthouse as the remaining
nine blasted through another gate and
entered an inner courtvard, which faced
the main house. When the smaller ai i
rounded the corner to face the doors of
the guesthouse, they spotted Kuwaiti
running inside to warn his wite and
children. The Americans’ night-vision
soggles cast the scene in pixellated
shades of emerald green. Kuwaiti, wear-
ing a white shalwar kamecez, had
grabbed a weapon and was coming back
outside when the SEALs opened fire and
killed him.

The nine other skALs, including
Mark, formed three-man units for clear-
ing the inner courtyard. The Americans
suspected that several more men were in
the house: Kuwaiti's thirty-threc-vear-
old brother, Abrar; bin Laden’s sons
Hamza and Khalid; and bin Laden him-
sclf. One SEAL unit had no sooner trod
on the paved patio at the house’s tront
entrance when Abrar—a stocky, musta-
chioed man in a cream-colored shalwar
appeared with an AK-47. Te
was shot in the chest and killed, as was

kameez

his wife, Bushra, who was standing, un-
armed, beside him.

utside the compound’s walls,
Ahmed, the translator, patrolled
the dirt road in front of bin Laden’s
house, as if he were a plainclothes Paki-
stani police officer. He looked the purt,
wearing a shalwar kameez atop a flak

jacket. He, the dog Cairo, and four

SEALs were responsible for closing off
the perimeter of the house while James
and six other SEALs—the contingent
that was supposed to have dropped onto
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“Let me check my card file for a joke about your condition.”

the roof—moved inside. For the team
patrolling the perimeter, the first fifteen
rainutes passed without incident. Neigh-
bors undoubtedly heard the low-flying
helicopters, the sound of one crashing,
:nd the sporadic explosions and gunfire
that ensued, but nobody came outside.
One local took note of the tumult in a
Twitter post: “Helicopter hovering
above Abbottabad at 1 AM (is a rare
\iiVCIlf).”

Eventually, a few curious Pakistanis
approached to inquire about the commo-
rion on the other side of the wall. “Go
back to your houses,” Ahmed said, in
Pashto, as Cairo stood watch. “There is a
security operation under way.” The locals
-vent homme, none of them suspecting that
“hey had talked to an American. When
sournalists descended on Bilal Town in
-he coming days, one resident told a re-
sorter, ‘I saw soldiers emerging from the
nelicopters and advancing toward the
house. Some of them instructed us in
~haste Pashto to turn off the lights and
stay inside.”

Meanwhile, James, the squadron
commander, had breached one wall,
crossed a section of the yard covered with
trellises, breached a second wall, and
joined up with the SEALs from helo one,
who were entering the ground floor ofthe
house. What happened next is not pre-
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cisely clear. “I can tell you that there was
atime period of almost twenty to twenty-
five minutes where we really didn’t know
just exactly what was going on,” Panetta
said fater, on “PBS NewsHour.”

Until this moment, the operation had
been monitored by dozens of defense, in-
telligence, and Administration officials
watching the drone’s video teed. The
SEATLS werc not wcuring helmet cams,
contrary to a widely cited report by CBS.
None of them had any previous knowl-
edge of the house’s floor plan, and they
were further jostled by the awareness that
they were possibly minutes away from
ending the costliest manhunt in Ameri-
can history; as a result, some of their rec-
ollections—on which this account is
based—may be imprecise and, thus, sub-
ject to dispute.

As Abrar's children ran for cover, the
SEALs began clearing the first floor of the
main house, room by room. Though the
Americans had thought that the house
might be booby-trapped, the presence of
kids at the compound suggested other-

wise. “You can only be hyper-vigilant for
so long,” the special-operations officer
said. “Did bin Laden go to sleep every
night thinking, The next night they're
coming? Of course not. Maybe for the
first year or two. But not now.” Never-
theless, security precautions were n

place. A locked metal gate blocked the
base of the staircase leading to the second
floor, making the downstairs room feel
like a cage.

After blasting through the gate with
C-4 charges, three SEALs marched up
the stairs. Midway up, they saw bin La-
den'’s twenty-three-year-old son, Khalid,
craning his neck around the corner. THe
then appeared at the top of the staircase
with an AK-47. Khalid, who wore a
white T-shirt with an overstretched
neckline and had short hairand a clipped
beard, fired down at the Americans.
(The counterterrorism official claims
that Khalid was unarmed, though still a
threat worth taking seriously. “You have
an adult male, late at night, in the dark,
coming down the stairs at you 1n an
Al Qaeda house—your assumption is
that you're encountering a hostite.™) At
feast two of the SEALs shot back and
killed Khalid. According to the booklets
that the SEALs carried, up to five adult
males were living inside the compound.
Three of them were now dead; the
fourth, bin Laden’s son Hamza, was not
on the premises. The final person was
bin Laden.

Before the mission commenced, the
seALs had created a checklist of code
words that had a Native American
theme. Fach code word represented a
different stage of the mission: leaving
Jalalabad, entering Pakistan, approach-
ing the compound, and so on. “Geron-
imo” was to signity that bin Laden had
been found.

Three sEALs shuttled past Khalid's
body and blew open another metal cage,
which obstructed the staircase leading to
the third floor. Bounding up the unlit
stairs, they scanned the railed landing.
On the top stair, the lead SEAL swivelled
right; with his night-vision goggles, he
discerned that a tall, rangy man with a
fist-length beard was peeking out from
behind a bedroom door, ten feet away.
The SEAL instantly sensed that it was
Crankshaft. (The counterterrorism
official asserts that the SEAL first saw bin
[.aden on the landing, and fired but
missed.)

The Americans hurried toward the
bedroom door. The first SEATL pushed it
open. Two of bin Laden’s wives had
placed themselves in front of him. Amal
al-Tatah, bin Laden’s fifth wife, was
screaming in Arabic. She motioned as if



she were oing to charge; the SEAL low-
ered his sights and shot her once, in the
calf. Feuri-g that one or both women
were wearing suicide jackets, he stepped
forward, wrapped them in a bear hug, and
drove rhem aside. He would almost cer-
tainly awve been killed had they blown
themselves ap, but by blanketing them he
would have absorbed some of the blast
and pctentially saved the two SEALs be-
hind h.ni. I the end, neither woman was
wearing an explosive vest.

A s:cord SEAL stepped into the room
and trained the infrared laser of his M4
on bin Laden’s chest. The Al Qaeda
chief, who was wearing a tan shalwar ka-
meez :nd a prayer cap on his head, froze;
he was unarmed. “There was never any
question of detaining or capturing him—
it wasi't a split-sccond decision. No one
wanted derainees,” the special-operations
officer told me. (The Administration
maintains rthat had bin Laden immedi-
ately surrendered he could have been
taken alive.) Nine years, seven months,
and twenty days after September 11th, an
Amer cenwas a trigger pull from ending
bin 1oden’s life. The first round, a 5.56-
mm. Fuller. struck bin Laden in the chest.
As he fell backward, the SEAL fired a sec-
ond round into his head, just above his
left eve. Oy his radio, he reported, “For
God ind rountry
imo, Geronirno.” After a pause, he added,
“Geronimo E.KLA—"cnemy killed in
action.”

Hearinz this at the White House,
Obar a pussed his lips, and said solemnly,
to no Hre i1 particular, “We got him.”

Geronimo, Geron-

Rcl;uin 7 his hold on bin Laden’s two
‘wives, the first SEAL placed the
women in dex cuffs and led them down-
stairs. "I'wo of his colleagues, mean-
while, ran upstairs with a nylon body
bag. They unfurled it, knelt down on ei-
ther side of bin Laden, and placed the
body inside the bag. Eighteen minutes
had elapsed since the DEVGRU team
landed. For the next twenty minutes,
the rission shifted to an intelligence-
gathering operation.

Four men scoured the second floor,
plastic bags in hand, collecting flash
drives, CDs, DVDs, and computer
hardwere from the room, which had
served, in part, as bin Laden’s makeshift
media studio. In the coming weeks, a
C.I.A -led task force examined the files

and determined that bin Laden had re-
mained far more involved in the opera-
tional activities of Al Queda than many
Amcrican officials had thought. Fe had
been developing plans to assassinate
Obama and Petracus, to pull oft an ex-
travagant September 11thanniversary
attack, and to attack American trains.
The $EALs also found an archive of dig-
ital pornography. “We find it on all these
guys, whether they're in Somalia, Iraq, or
Afghanistan,” the special-operations
officer said. Bin Laden’s gold-threaded
robes, worn during his video addresses,
hung behind a curtain in the media
room.

Outside, the Americans corralled the
women and children—cach of them
bound in flex cuffs—and had them sit
against an exterior wall that faced the sec~
ond, undamaged Black [ Tawk. The lone
fluent Arabic speaker on the assault team
questioned them. Nearly all the children
were under the age of ten. They seemed
to have no idea about the tenant upstairs,
other than that he was “an old guy.” None
of the women confirmed that the man
was bin Laden, though one of them kept
referring to him as “the sheikh.” When
the rescue Chinook eventually arrived, a
medic stepped out and knelt over the
corpse. He injected a needle into bin
Laden’s body and extracted two bone-
marrow samples. More DNA was taken
with swabs. One of the bone-marrow
samples went into the Black [awk. The
other went into the Chinook, along with
bin Laden’s body.
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Next, the seALs needed to destroy
the damaged Black Iawk. "The pilot,
armed with @ hammer that he kept for
such situations, smashed the instrurment
panel, the radio, and the other classified
fixtures inside the cockpit. Then the de-
molition unit took over. They placed
cxp]osivcs near the avionics system, the
communications gear, the engine, and
the rotor head. “You're not going to
hide the fact that it's a helicopter,” the
special-operations officer said. “But vou
want to make it unusable.” The SkALs
placed extra C-4 charges under the car-
riage, rolled thermite grenades inside
the copter’s body, and then backed up.
Helo one burst into flames while the de-
molition team boarded the Chinook.
The women and children, who were
being lett behind for the Pakistani au-
thorities, looked puzzled, scared, and
shocked as they watched the sEaLs
board the helicopters. Amal, bin La-
den’s wife, continued her harangue.
Then, as a giant fire burned inside the
compound walls, the Americans Hew
away.

n the Situation Room, Obama said,

“I'm not going to be happy until those
ouys get out safe.” Atter thirtv-cight
minutes inside the compound, the two
SEAL teams had to make the long flight
back to Atghanistan. The Black I Tawk
was low on gas, and needed to rendez-
vous with the Chinook at the refuel-
ling point that was near the Afghan
border—but still inside Pakistan. Filling

()

“Let me put it this way—you re irreplaceable but not indispensable. ?



e gas tank took twenty-five minutes.
At one point, Biden, who had been
“ngering a rosary, turned to Mullen, the
Ioint Chiefs chairman. “We should all
00 to Mass tonight,” he said.

The helicopters landed back in Jalala-
~ad around 3 A.M.; McRaven and the
LA station chief met the team on the
tarmac. A pair of SEALs unloaded the
body bag and unzipped it so that McRa-
ven and the C.IA. officer could sce bin
LLaden’s corpse with their own cyes. Pho-
rographs were taken of bin leens face
:nd then of his outstretched body. Bin

Laden was believed to be about six feet
“our, but no onc had a tape measurc to
confirm the body’s lcngtl So one SEAL,
who was six feet tall, lay beside thc
corpse: it measured roughh four inches
longer than the American. Minutes later,
N[cRaw:n appeared on the teleconter-
ence screen in the Situation Room and
confirmed that bin Laden’s body was in
rhe bag. The corpse was sent to Bagram.

All along, the SEALs had planned
o dump bin Laden’s corpse into the
sea—a blunt \V‘AV of ending the bin
Laden myth. "
wlled ofta snmLu scheme before. Dur-
n a DEVGRU helicopter raid inside So-
malia in September, 2009, sEALs had

“hey had successtully

<illed Saleh Ali Saleh Nabhan, one of

Fast Africa’s top Al Qaeda leaders;
Nabhan’s corpse was then flown to a
ship in the Indian Occan, given proper
Muslim rites, and thrown overboard.
Before taking that step for bin Laden,
however, John Brennan made a call.
Brennan, who had beena C.
chiefin Riyadh, phoned a former coun-
terpart in Saudi intelligence. Brennan
told the man what had occurred in Ab-
bottabad and informed him of the plan
to deposit bin J.aden’s remains at sea.
As Brennan knew, bin Laden’s relatives
were still a prominent family in the
Kingdom, and Osama had once been a
Saudi citizen. Did the Saudi govern-
ment have any interest in taking the
body? “Your plan sounds like a good
one,” the Saudi replied.

At dawn, bin Laden was loaded into
the belly of a flip-wing V-22 Osprey,
accompanied by a JsOC liaison ofhcer
and a security detail of military police.
The Osprey flew south, destined for the
deck of the U.S.S. Car! Vinson—a
thousand-foot-long nuclear-powered
aircraft carrier sailing in the Arabian

[.A. station
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Sea, off the Pakistani coast. The Amer-
icans, yet again, were about to traverse
P&kl%tdnl airspace without pcrmmlon
Some officials worried that the Paki-
stanis, stung by the humiliation of the
unilateral raid in Abbottabad, might re-
strict the Osprev's access. The airplanc
ultimately landed on the Vinson with-
out incident.

Bin Laden’s body was washed,
wrapped in a white burial shroud,
weighted, and then slipped inside a bag.
The process was done “in strict confor-
mance with Islamic precepts and prac-
tices,” Brennan later told reporters. The
JSOC liaison, the military-police contin-
gent, and several sailors placed the
shrouded body on an open-air elevator,
and rode down with it to the lower level,
which functions as a hangar for air-
planes. From a height of between twenty
and twenty-five feet above the waves,
they heaved the corpse into the water.

Back in Abbottabad, residents of

Bilal Town and dozens of journalists
converged on bin Laden’s compound,

and the morning light clarified some ot

the confusion from the previous night.
Bluck soot from the detonated Black
Hawk charred the wall of the animal
pen. Part of the tail hung over the wall.
Tt was clear that a military raid had taken
place there. “T'm glad no one was hurt in
the crash, but, on the other hand, I'm
sort of glad we left the helicopter there,”
the special-operations officer said. “It
quiets the conspiracy mongers out there
and instantly lends uuhbl ity. You be-
lieve everything else instantly, because
there’s a helicopter sitting there.”

Aftcr the raid, Pakistan’s political
leadership engaged in frantic dam-
age control. In the VVAth%ton Post,
l)rm1dcnt Asit Al 7,
bin Laden “was not anywhere we had
anticipated he would be, but now he
is gone,” adding that “a decade of co-
operation and partnership between the
United States and Pakistan led up to

ardari wrote that

the elimination of Osama bin Laden.”

Pakistani military officials reacted
more cynically. They arrested at least five
Pakistanis for helping the C.LAL, in-
cluding the >h)sluan who ran the in-

And

several Pakistani media outlets, includ-

munization drive in Abbottabad.

ing the Nation—a jingoistic English-
language newspaper that is considered a
mouthpiece for Pakistan’s Inter-Services
Intelligence agency, or L.S.L—published
what they claimed was the name of the
C.1.As station chief in Islamabad.
(Shireen Mazari, a former editor of the
Nation, once told me, “Our interests and
the Americans’ interests don't coincide.”)
The published name was incorrect, and
the C.LA. officer opted to stay.

The proximity <>1‘ bin Lader’s house
to the Pakistan Military Academy raised
the possibility that the military, or the
1.S.1., had helped protect bin Laden,
How could Al Queda’s chieflive so close
to the academy without at least some
othicers knowing about it? Suspicion
grew atter the Times reported that at
least one cell phone recovered from bin
Laden’s house contained contacts for
senior militants belonging to [Harakat-
ul-Mujahideen, a jihadi group that has
had close ties to the LS. L Although
American officials have stated that Pa-
kistani officials must have helped bin
Laden hide in Abbottabad, definitive
evidence has not vet been presented.

Bin Laden’s death provided the
White [ Touse with the symbolic victory
it needed to begin phasing troops out of
Afghanistan. Seven wecks later, Obama
announced a timetable for withdrawal.
Even so, U.S. counterterrorism activi-
tics inside Pakistan—that is, covert op
crations conducted by the C.LA. and
JSOC—are not expected to diminish
anytime soon. Since May 2nd, there
have been more than twenty drone
strikes in North and South Waziristan,
including one that allegedly killed fvas
Kashmiri, a top Al Qacda leader, while
he was sipping tea in an apple orchard.

The success of the bin Laden raid has
sparked a conversation inside military
and intelligence circles: Are there other
terrorists worth the risk of another heli-
copter assault in a Pakistani city? “There
are people out there that, ifwe could find
them, wc T Cart-
wright told me. He mentioned Ayman
al-Zawabiri, the new leader of Al Quaed,

would go atter them,



who is believed to be in Pakistan, and
Anwer al-Awlaki, the American-born
cleric n Yemen. Cartwright emphasized
that “zotng after them” didn’t necessar-
ily mzan another DEVGRU raid. The
speciul-operations officer spoke more
boldly. e believes that a precedent has
been et for more unilateral raids in the
future. “Folks now realize we can
weatherit, he said. The senior adviser to
the Fresident said that “penctrating
other countries’ sovereign airspace co-
vertly is scmething that's always available
for thz right mission and the right gain.”
Brennan told me, “The confidence we
have in the capabilities of the U.S. mili-
tary 15, without a doubt, even stronger
after “his < peration.”

O Vay 6th, Al Qaeda confirmed bin
[.adeq’s ceath and released a statement
congra-uluting “the Islamic nation” on
“the rurtyrdom of its good son Osama.”
The wthors promised Americans that
“their joy will turn to sorrow and their
tears will mix with blood.” That day,
Pres'der - Obama travelled to Fort
Camnobell Kentucky, where the 160th is
basec, w0 meet the DEVGRU unit and the
pilots whe pulled off the raid. The sEATs,
who hod returned home from Afghani-
stan carlic - in the week, flew in from Vir-
ginia Bicen, Tom Donilon, and a dozen
othe~ national-security advisers came
along;.

VieReven greeted Obama on the tar-
mac ("[hey had met at the White
House a “>w days earlier—the President
had presented McRaven with a tape
measuze. McRaven led the President
and 115 team into a onc-story building
on tae other side of the base. They
walked into a windowless room with
shabov curpets, fluorescent lights, and

thres rows of metal folding chairs.
McRaven, Brian, the pilots from the
160th. and James took turns briefing
the President. They had set up a three-
dimensioaal mode] of bin Laden’s com-
pound on the floor and, waving a red
laser pointer, traced their maneuvers in-
side. A satellite image of the compound
was displayed on a wall, along with a
map showing the flight routes into and
out of Pikistan. The bricfing lasted
about thirty-five minutes. Obama
wanred to know how Ahmed had kept
locals 1t bay; he also inquired about the
fallen Black Tawk and whether above-

averuge tomperatures in Abbottabad had

I an elephant podiatrist—what do you do?”

contributed to the crash. {The Pentagon
is conducting a tormal investigation of
the accident.)

When James, the squadron com-
mander, spoke, he started by citing all the
forward operating bases in eastern Af-
ghanistan that had been named for SEALS
killed in combat. “Everything we have
done for the last ten years prepared us
for this,” he told Obama. The President
was “in awe of these guys,” Ben Rhodes,
the deputy national-security adviser,
who travelled with Obama, said. “Tt was
an extraordinary basc visit,” he added.
“They knew he had staked his Presi-
dency on this. He knew they staked
their lives on it.”

As James talked about the raid, he
mentioned Cairo’s role. “There was a
dog?” Obama interrupted. James nod-
ded and said that Cairo was in an adjoin-
ing room, muzzled, at the request of the
Secret Service.

“I want to meet that dog,” Obama
said.

“If you want to meet the dog, Mr.
President, I advise you to bring treats,”
James joked. Obama went over to pet
Cairo, but the dog’s muzzle was left on.

Afterward, Obama and his advisers
went into a sccond room, down the hall,
where others involved in the raid—in-

cluding logisticians, crew chiets, and
SEAT, alternates—had assembled. Oba-
ma presented the team with a Presiden-
tial Unit Citation and said, “Our intelli-
genee professionals did some amazing
work. [ had fifty-fifty confidence that bin
Laden was there, but I had one-hundred-
per-cent confidence in you guys. You
are, literally, the finest small-hghting
force that has ever existed in the world.”
The raiding team then presented the
President with an American flag that
had been on board the rescue Chinook.
Measuring three feet by five, the flag had
been stretched, ironed, and framed. The
stALs and the pilots had signed it on the
back; an inscription on the front read,
“From the Joint Task Force Operation
Neptune’s Spear, 01 May 2011: For God
and country. Geronimo.”” Obama prom-
ised to put the gift “somewhere private
and meaningful to me.” Before the Pres-
ident returned to Washington, he posed
for photographs with each team member
and spoke with manv of them, but he left
one thing unsaid. He never asked who
fired the kill shot, and the SEALs never
volunteered to tell him. +
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